SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Supreme Court Case No. SC03-2063 THIRD DCA CASE NO. 02-3002 LT Case No. 00-21824

CRESCENT MIAMI CENTER, LLC,

Petitioner,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE, STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, THIRD DISTRICT

/

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

FRED O. GOLDBERG, ESQUIRE Berger Singerman Attorneys for Petitioner 200 South Biscayne Boulevard Suite 1000 Miami, Florida 33131 Telephone: (305) 755-9500 Fax: (305) 714-4340

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS, ETC.

Counsel for Petitioner CRESCENT MIAMI CENTER certifies that the following persons and entities have or may have an interest in the outcome of this case.

I. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This matter is before this Court based upon direct and express conflict between the Third District's Opinion in the instant action (Appendix, Tab 11)¹ and the decision of the Second District in *Kuro*, *Inc. v. State*, *Department of Revenue*, 713 So.2d 1021 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998), *Review Denied*, 713 So.2d 201 (Fla. 1998). Thus, this appeal is within the Court's discretionary jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, §3(b), Florida Constitution, and Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), Fla.R.App.R. See Order accepting jurisdiction, App. Tab 13.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Prior to February 25, 2000, Crescent Real Estate Equities Limited Partnership (hereinafter referred to as "Crescent") was the owner of certain real property and all improvements thereupon located in Miami, Miami-Dade County, Florida (hereinafter referred to as the "Property"). App. Tab 4, Ex. A, ¶ 11. On February 24, 2000, Crescent formed and organized Crescent Miami Center, L.L.C. (hereinafter referred to as "CMC" or "Petitioner") as a limited liability company under the laws of Delaware. App. Tab 4, Ex. A, ¶ 4. CMC maintains its principal place of business and principal commercial domicile in Miami-Dade County, Florida,

¹A formal paginated Record has not yet been issued in connection with this proceeding. Accordingly, Record references herein cite to the Appendix to this Brief by tab number and page or paragraph number.

and is authorized to conduct business in the State of Florida. App. Tab 4, Ex. A, \P 4.

Immediately after CMC was formed on February 24, 2000, Crescent transferred 99.9% of its ownership interest in CMC to Crescent Real Estate Funding IX, L.P. (hereinafter referred to as "Crescent Funding"), a Delaware limited partnership. App. Tab 4, Ex. A, \P 5. At the same time, Crescent transferred the remaining 0.1% of its ownership interest in CMC to CRE Management IX, LLC (hereinafter referred to as "CRE Management"), a Delaware limited liability company. App. Tab 4, Ex. A, ¶ 5. Immediately thereafter, CRE Management, again on February 24, 2000, transferred its 0.1% interest in CMC to Crescent Funding rendering CMC wholly owned by Crescent Funding. App. Tab 4, Ex. A, ¶ 6. At all times applicable hereto, CRE Management was wholly owned by Crescent. App. Tab 4, Ex. A, ¶ 6. At all times applicable hereto, Crescent was the sole limited partner in Crescent Funding and Crescent Funding's sole general partner was CRE Management. App. Tab 4, Ex. A, ¶ 8. Thus, at all times applicable hereto, Crescent, through its ownership of Crescent Funding and CRE Management, owned and controlled 100% of CMC.

Because Crescent owned 100% of CRE Management, Crescent Funding's sole general partner, and Crescent was Crescent Funding's sole limited partner, Crescent owned 100% of the beneficial interest in Crescent Funding, which, in turn, owned

100% of the beneficial interest in CMC. App. Tab 4, Ex. A, ¶¶ 8, 9, 10. In addition, because Crescent Funding was the sole member of CMC, it possessed all rights to the fullest extent of Delaware law to control, manage and operate CMC. App. Tab 4, Ex. A, ¶ 10. Similarly, Crescent, as the sole member and owner of CRE Management, Crescent Funding's general partner, possessed all rights to the fullest extent of Delaware law to control, operate and manage Crescent Funding. App. Tab 4, Ex. A, ¶ 10. Thus, Crescent, through Crescent Funding, also possessed the right and power to control, operate and manage CMC. App. Tab 4, Ex. A, ¶ 10.

On February 25, 2000, Crescent, as grantor, transferred the Property to CMC. App. Tab 4, Ex. A, ¶ 11. CMC filed the deed with the Clerk of Courts, Miami-Dade County, Florida on February 25, 2000 and paid documentary stamp tax in the sum of \$693,000 and surtax in the sum of \$519,750, a total sum of \$1,212,750 to the Clerk of Courts in connection with the filing of the deed. App. Tab 4, Ex. A, ¶ 12. The Property which Crescent transferred to CMC was not encumbered by any mortgage and no mortgage was satisfied in connection with the closing which took place on February 25, 2000. App. Tab 4, Ex. A, ¶ 13. Crescent did not owe any account payable in favor of CMC and no account payable was satisfied in connection with the transfer of the Property by Crescent to CMC. App. Tab 4, Ex. A, ¶ 14.

Crescent received no real, personal or intangible property or anything of value in exchange for the property transferred by it to CMC, and no shares or interest in CMC were conveyed in exchange for the Property. App. Tab 4, Ex. A, ¶¶ 16, 17. Crescent created CMC, and CMC's ownership was established prior to the real estate conveyance and no shares of interest in CMC were conveyed in exchange for the Property. App. Tab 4, Ex. A, ¶ 16.

Crescent possessed no tax reason for executing the deed and neither realized a favorable tax consequence nor sustained any tax liability as a result of the transfer of the Property to CMC. App. Tab 4, Ex. A, ¶ 19. The transfer of the Property to CMC by Crescent did not result in any favorable or unfavorable change in Crescent's financial statements. App. Tab 4, Ex. A, ¶ 15. The sole purpose for the transfer effectuated by the deed was to separate the Property from the rest of Crescent's assets in order to facilitate future unsecured financing. App. Tab 4, Ex. A, ¶ 18.

The real beneficial ownership of the real estate did not change and the transfer of the Property from Crescent to CMC was a mere book transaction. App. Tab 4, Ex. A, ¶ 18. Prior to the transaction, Crescent managed and maintained the Property and controlled the right to transfer, encumber or hypothecate the Property. App. Tab 4, Ex. A, ¶ 21. Similarly, immediately

after the transaction, Crescent, through its ownership and control of CMC, possessed precisely the same rights. App. Tab 4, Ex. A, ¶ 21. In addition, as part of the transaction, Crescent executed an assignment of rents in favor of CMC; however, all revenues from such rents were passed on to Crescent as 100% owner of Crescent Funding, and such revenue was reported on Crescent's financial statements. App. Tab 4, Ex. A, ¶ 20. Thus, prior to the transaction, Crescent possessed the right to receive all rents and income from the Property, and after the transaction, Crescent continued to receive such income. App. Tab 4, Ex. A, ¶ 20.

On March 8, 2000, CMC applied for a refund of the surtaxes and documentary stamp taxes of \$1,212,750 paid in connection with the filing of the deed. App. Tab 1, ¶ 14, and Ex.2. Respondent, Department of Revenue (hereinafter referred to as "DOR") denied CMC's application for a refund via a Notice of Proposed Refund Denial dated May 5, 2000. App. Tab 1, ¶15, and Ex. 3. CMC elected not to pursue an informal protest of the Notice of Denial and, pursuant to DOR rules, the Notice of Proposed Refund Denial became final on July 4, 2000, sixty (60) days after the Notice of Proposed Refund Denial was issued. The instant action was filed within sixty (60) days of July 4, 2000 and all jurisdictional requirements for and conditions precedent to the filing of the case *sub judice* were satisfied.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The case *sub judice* was filed in the Circuit Court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit in and for Dade County, Florida on September 1, 2000. App. Tab 1. DOR filed its Answer to the Complaint on October 3, 2000. App. Tab 2.

On June 28, 2002, DOR filed its Motion for Summary Judgment and supporting memorandum of law. App. Tab 3. Thereafter, on September 6, 2002, CMC filed its Motion for Summary Judgment as well as the Affidavit of Daniel E. Smith, Esquire. App. Tab 4. In addition to its own Motion for Summary Judgment, CMC also filed a Memorandum of Law in opposition to DOR's Motion for Summary Judgment on September 25, 2002. App. Tab 5. A hearing was held on DOR's Motion for Summary Judgment on September 26, 2002, and on October 8, 2002, the Circuit Court entered its Final Order granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment and denying CMC's Motion for Summary Judgment. App. Tab 6, 7. CMC filed its Notice of Appeal in a timely fashion on November 5, 2002.

After full briefing by the parties (App. Tabs 8, 9, 10) and oral argument, the Third District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's ruling in its decision entered September 10, 2003. App. Tab 11. After a timely Motion to Certify Conflict or, in the Alternative, For Certification of a Matter of Great Public Importance was denied by the Third District on September 25,

2003, CMC filed a timely Notice of Appeal on November 13, 2003. App. Tab 12. CMC served its Brief on Jurisdiction on December 18, 2003.² This Honorable Court accepted jurisdiction over the instant proceeding by Order dated March 30, 2004. App. Tab 13.

V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

§ 201.02 of the Florida Statutes does not impose a documentary stamp tax on a deed unless there is a "purchaser" that pays consideration "in exchange" for the real property. In the instant action, a wholly owned subsidiary, Petitioner CMC, received a deed to unencumbered real property as a voluntary contribution of capital from its parent company, Crescent. CMC did not give any money or other property in exchange for the real property. Under these circumstances, CMC, the grantee, is not a "purchaser" and paid no consideration for the real property. *Kuro v. Department of Revenue*, 713 So.2d 1021 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998), appeal dismissed, 728 So.2d 201 (Fla. 1998).

The scope of any statute assessing a tax in Florida is to be strictly construed against the taxing authority. This rule of strict construction requires any ambiguity or doubt to be resolved in favor of the taxpayer.

²Due to the submission of unnecessary materials in its Appendix, Crescent was ordered to file an Amended Brief on Jurisdiction. The Amended Brief was filed on December 31, 2003.

The conveyance at issue was a mere change in the form of ownership and did not result in any other party acquiring an interest in the Property. The real equitable and beneficial and interest in the Property was unaffected by the transfer. Under these circumstances, the transaction was not taxable pursuant to Fla.Stat. § 201.02(1). State Ex Rel Palmer-Florida Corp. v. Green, 88 So.2d 498 (Fla. 1956); Department of Revenue v. De Maria, 338 So.2d 838 (Fla. 1976); Kuro v. Department of Revenue, 713 So.2d 1021 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998).

In an attempt to bring the situation reflected in the instant action outside of the ambit of the above-cited decisions, DOR advances three theories upon which it suggests that the presence of consideration in the instant transaction may be found. These are: (1) that there was a purpose for the transaction; (2) that the transaction shifted potential future liability which might arise from ownership of the property from the parent to CMC, the wholly owned subsidiary; and (3) that the parent received valuable partnership interests in exchange for the transfer of property. These novel theories of how a subsidiary "pays consideration" are inconsistent with the requirement of "strict construction" of the taxing statute and fly in the face of numerous decisions of the Florida Supreme Court and the district courts. As a result, DOR's theories should properly be rejected and the Third District's decision

affirming the trial court's Order granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment and denying Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment should properly be reversed.

V. ARGUMENT

The question to be resolved by this Honorable Court in the instant appeal may be stated as follows: Was documentary stamp tax and surtax pursuant to Fla.Stat. § 201.02 due from Petitioner CMC when Crescent transferred the unencumbered Property to CMC, an entity wholly owned, controlled and operated by Crescent, where CMC did not pay to Crescent any consideration, whether monetary or otherwise? As has been held repeatedly by the courts of this State, the answer to this question should properly be "no." Under these circumstances, CMC is not a "purchaser" under the purview of Fla.Stat. § 201.02(1).

However, the Third District ruled to the contrary in its Opinion rendered September 10, 2003. App. Tab 11. In its decision, the Third District determined that the deed conveying the Real Property to CMC was subject to the documentary stamp tax. App. Tab 11, pp. 8-9. The Court found consideration in this transaction "as a natural consequence of the commercial transaction transferring intangible property" in exchange for the Real Property, App. Tab 11, pp. 9-10. This Third Circuit reasoned that after the transaction "Crescent had no interest in the property to convey." App. Tab 11, p. 9. The Third District

agreed with DOR's position that "Crescent exchanged equitable ownership of land in consideration for a more valuable equitable ownership of an interest in another limited partnership." App. Tab 11, p. 11. The Third District also characterized CMC's legal arguments as seeking a non-statutory "exemption" from the documentary stamp tax. App. Tab 11, p. 12. For the reasons set forth more fully herein, CMC submits that the Third District erred and its decision should properly be reversed.

Fla.Stat. § 201.02(1) provides that:

On deeds, instruments, or writings whereby any lands, tenements, or other real property, or any interest therein, shall be granted, assigned, transferred, or otherwise conveyed to, or vested in, the purchaser or any other person by his or his direction, on each \$100 of the consideration therefore the tax shall be 70 cents. When the full amount of the consideration for the execution, assignment, transfer, or conveyance is not shown in the face of such deed, instrument, document, or writing, the tax shall be at the rate of 70 cents for each \$100 or fractional part thereof of the consideration therefor. For purposes of this section, consideration includes, but is not limited to, the money paid or agreed to be paid; the discharge of an obligation; an the amount of any mortgage, purchase money mortgage lien, or any encumbrance, whether or not the underlying indebtedness is assumed. Ιf the consideration paid or given in exchange for real property or any interest therein includes property other than money, it is presumed that the consideration is equal to the fair market value of the real property or interest therein.

In order for there to be a tax due pursuant to Fla.Stat. § 201.02(1), there must be both a "purchaser" and "consideration paid or given in exchange for real property," as well as a deed, instrument or writing reflecting a transfer of interest of the realty. The Third District sidestepped the dual requirement that there be both a purchaser and consideration for a taxable transaction to occur. Instead, the Third District concluded without any analysis or discussion that "there is 'consideration' whenever there is a 'purchaser'". App. Tab 11, pp. 11-12.

In the case *sub judice*, there was neither a purchaser nor an exchange of consideration. The transfer of the property from Crescent to Petitioner was merely a book transaction which effected a change in legal title without any change in the equitable or beneficial ownership of the Property. Before the transfer, Crescent controlled, managed and operated the Property and received the income and revenues generated therefrom, and after the transaction, the situation was precisely the same.

In the instant action, DOR attempted to infer consideration for the transfer of the Property to CMC where in fact there was none. DOR seeks to have this Honorable Court rewrite the documentary stamp tax statute so that Petitioner and other similarly situated parties are molded to fit within the penumbra of the term "purchaser." However, DOR's arguments run contrary

to numerous decisions of the Florida Supreme Court and the District Courts of Appeal and should properly be rejected.

A. THE THIRD DISTRICT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT DOCUMENTARY STAMP TAX IS DUE WHEN A WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARY RECEIVES A VOLUNTARY CONTRIBUTION OF UNENCUMBERED REAL PROPERTY FROM ITS PARENT WITHOUT PAYMENT OF CONSIDERATION

It is undisputed that Petitioner neither paid any monetary consideration nor assumed an underlying indebtedness in exchange for the Property. R. 39. The Property was transferred by Crescent to its pre-existing wholly-owned subsidiary, CMC, as a contribution of capital. In a capital contribution, the grantee suffers no detriment and gives up nothing in exchange for the contribution. Although record title changes, there is no change in equitable ownership. Contrary to the Third District's statement that "after the deed was executed, Crescent had no interest in the property to convey" (App. Tab 11, p. 9), Crescent, as the sole owner of CMC though Crescent Funding and CRE Management, could have had CMC sell or transfer the Property to another grantee. The Property remained in Crescent's control. See, e.g., Greenberg v. Morris, 436 S.W.2d 734, 738 (Mo. 1968) (a party cannot furnish consideration to itself; "motive" differs from consideration); Gulf Towing Co., Inc. v. The Steam Tanker, Amoco New York, 648 F.2d 242, 245 (5th Cir. 1981) (consideration must be bargained for by the promisor and given by the promisee).

DOR instead asserts that "property other than money" was given in exchange for the Property by CMC. DOR asserts that nonmonetary consideration can be found in three ways: (1) there existed a purpose for the transfer of the Property from Crescent to Petitioner; (2) the transfer of the Property shifted potential future liability arising from ownership of Property from Crescent to CMC; and (3) Crescent received valuable interest in CMC in consideration for the Property. The adoption of any of these theories would impermissibly expand the scope of § 201.02(1).

It is well-established that "tax laws are to be construed strongly in favor of the taxpayers and against the government, and all ambiguities or doubts are to be resolved in favor of the taxpayers." Department of Revenue v. Ray Construction of Okaloosa County, 667 So.2d 859, 865 (Fla. 1st DCA 1969), citing Maas Brothers, Inc. v. Dickinson, 195 So.2d 193 (Fla. 1967). "Taxes may be collected only within the clear definite boundaries recited by the statute." Department of Revenue v. Ray Construction of Okaloosa County, 667 So.2d at 865. If CMC is not a purchaser and paid no consideration in connection with the instant transaction, under the strict confines of § 201.02(1), no tax is due. DOR's attempts to expand the boundaries of the statute should properly be rejected.

A transfer of real property without consideration is not a taxable event under the statute; under this circumstance there is

neither a purchaser nor consideration. *Culbreath v. Reid*, 65 So.2d 556, 558 (Fla. 1953) (gift from father to daughter is not taxable; "the word 'monetary value' or 'value' or 'market value' cannot be substituted for the word 'consideration'"); *DeVore v. Gay*, 39 So.2d 796, 797 (Fla. 1949) (promise to pay future rents is not taxable; "rent is not the purchase price or consideration for a conveyance"); *see also Department of Revenue v. Race*, 743 So.2d 169 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999) (transfer of real property from husband to husband and wife to correct record title is not taxable). If the grantee is not a "purchaser" the tax provisions of § 201.02 do not apply. *Culbreath v. Reid*, 65 So.2d at 558.³

The general principle that a transfer of real property without consideration is not a taxable event has equal application in the business context. In the business arena, it is sometimes necessary to shift naked title to land in order to effectuate changes in corporate structure. To impose a documentary stamp tax on such "paper" transactions would cause an unconscionable burden upon the business community. Recognizing

³In its Motion for Summary Judgment, DOR asserted that the transfer of the Property to CMC was "a transaction lacking economic substance," i.e., consideration, is a sham. (App. Tab 3, p. 12). This argument disregards the decision of the Florida Supreme Court which determined "that the case law of Florida does not support the proposition that the historical equitable requirement of valuable or good consideration to support enforcement of the deed of bargain and sale or of covenant to stand seized, respectively, is part of the law of Florida now applicable to deeds generally." Chase Federal Savings & Loan Assoc. v. Schreiber, 479 So.2d 90, 100 (Fla. 1985).

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