SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CRESCENT MIAMI CENTER, LLC.,

Petitioner

v.

Case no. SC03-2063 Lower Tribunal no. 3D02-

3002

FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Respondent.

____/

RESPONDENT, FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE'S, ANSWER BRIEF

Charles J. Crist, Jr. Attorney General

Charles Catanzaro Assistant Attorney General Fla. Bar No. 979732 Office of the Attorney

The Capitol - PL-01 Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050

General

(850) 414-3300 (850) 488-5865 (fax)

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Deeds that convey real property are subject to a documentary stamp tax. §201.02(1), Fla. Stat., (2000). The tax is calculated against the consideration paid for the real property. Purchaser and consideration form an indivisible unit - there is not one without the other.

Miami Center purchased the real property at issue. Miami Center paid consideration in the form of increasing Crescent Funding's equity interest and by accepting the risk inherent in property ownership.

Section 201.02(1), Florida Statutes, (1989), was amended to expand the definition of "consideration." The expanded definition prevented avoidance of the tax engendered by the perspective from which the value of consideration would be determined. Former section 201.02(1), Florida Statutes, and the case law thereunder, focused on the value of consideration with respect to the money or property the purchaser transferred to the seller. When that value was not reasonably determinable, the value of the consideration was not reasonably determinable, hence the tax could not be computed.

The amendment to section 201.02(1), Florida Statutes, allows the amount of the consideration the purchaser pays to be measured with respect to the fair market value of the

property deeded when the consideration is not money. Locating the consideration locates the purchaser. The law respects the separate identities of legal entities; a limited partnership's ownership of a limited liability company does not insulate their transactions from tax consequences.

Exemptions from tax are construed strictly against the taxpayer. Chapter 201, Florida Statutes, (2000), sets forth four exemptions. None of the exemptions pertains to the deeds between related parties.

Crescent did not make a gift of the property to Miami Center. The property conveyed was sufficiently valuable to engender gift tax consequences had a gift been made. A gift under these circumstances is a legal impossibility.

The Third District Court of Appeal correctly concluded that "the transfer of real property from a parent company to a newly created subsidiary limited liability company owned by the general limited partner of the parent company, is subject to Florida's documentary stamp tax statute, Section 210.02(1), Florida Statutes (2000)." ROA, p. 175. The decision below is consistent with that reached in *Muben-Lamar*, *L. P. v. Department of Revenue*, 763 So. 2d 1209 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000).

The decision in *Kuro*, *Inc.* v. *Department of Revenue*, 713 So. 2d 1021 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1998), overturning the application of

б

documentary stamp tax, is wrong. The court wrongly minimized the legal import of the conveyance and misapplied concepts that pertain to exclusively to trusts - there is no division of legal and equitable interests outside of a trust. The court in *Kuro* created a tax exemption. The decision in *Kuro* warrants reversal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW ON APPEAL

This case devolves upon the interpretation of section 201.02(1), Florida Statutes, (2000). "[J]udicial interpretation of Florida statutes is a purely legal matter and therefore subject to *de novo* review." *Racetrac Petroleum*, *Inc. v. Delco Oil, Inc.*, 721 So. 2d 376, 378 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998), citing *Operation Rescue v. Women's Health Center, Inc.*, 626 So. 2d 664, 670 (Fla. 1993), aff'd in part, rev'd in part on other grounds, 512 U.S. 753 (1994). The standard of review in this matter is de novo.

ARGUMENT

THE DEED WHEREBY A LIMITED PARTNERSHIP CONVEYS REAL PROPERTY TO A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY, A SEPARATE LEGAL ENTITY, IS SUBJECT TO THE DOCUMENTARY STAMP TAX

A. Deeds Transferring Interests in Real Property Are Subject to Florida Documentary Stamp Tax

Florida taxes deeds transferring interests in real property. §201.02(1), Fla. Stat. (2000). The tax is imposed

on the document itself; liability for the tax "is to be solely determined by the form and face of the instrument and not by proof of extrinsic facts." State Department of Revenue v. McCoy Motel, Inc., 302 So. 2d 440, 442 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974). The Third District, straightforwardly "applying the plain language of Section 201.02(1) to the undisputed facts and the face of the deed," correctly concluded that the deed whereby the grantor, Crescent, transferred real property to the grantee, Miami Center, was subject to Florida documentary stamp tax. (ROA, p. 186.)

Petitioner and Amicus seek to avoid the tax because, according to Petitioner, the tax "would cause an unconscionable burden upon the business community," Initial Brief, p. 15, and, according to Amicus, subject the real estate development industry to a "significant" tax burden, Amicus Brief, p. 2. In short, neither wants to pay the tax much like most people who, given the choice, would rather not pay sales or federal income tax.

But "taxes," observed Justice Holmes, "are what we pay for civilized society." Compania General De Tabacos De Filipinas v. Collector of Internal Revenue, 275 U.S. 87, 100, 48 S. Ct. 100, 105 (1927) (Holmes, J., dissenting). Petitioner and Amicus no doubt demand as their right the

benefits of civilized society - but they refuse the legally imposed responsibility for its maintenance.

Neither Petitioner nor Amicus are constrained to create tiered organizations to which property must be transferred. But if they do, they are responsible for the legal consequences inuring: Florida taxes deeds transferring interests in real property.

The Third District reached the correct conclusion. The means Petitioner and Amicus use to challenge that conclusion, separating purchaser from consideration, misusing the adjective "mere" and contriving a "book transaction," are refuted below.

B. "Consideration" and "Purchaser" Comprise a Legal Unity

In Florida Department of Revenue v. De Maria, 338 So. 2d 838 (Fla. 1976), the Florida Supreme Court observed the term "purchaser" was not defined in Chapter 201, Florida Statutes. Accordingly, the Court adopted the definition in Webster's New Twentieth Century Dictionary: "'purchaser:' one who obtains or acquires property by paying an equivalent in money or other exchange in value." De Maria, 338 So. 2d at 840. The Court concluded: "Since ... there was 'reasonably determinable consideration' flowing from the taxpayer to the corporation

for the conveyance of the real property ... it is inescapable that the taxpayer is 'one who obtains or acquires property by paying an *equivalent* in money or other exchange of value." *Id*. (Emphasis in original.) Accordingly, one who pays is a purchaser; that which is paid, in money or money's equivalent, is consideration. The consideration-purchaser dichotomy is an illusion: the one begets the other.

The validity of the point is proved by the absurdity of the converse: A purchaser pays consideration for nothing. That which is paid for something is not consideration. The absurdity of these propositions nullifies Petitioner's and Amicus's suggested statutory ambiguity. Initial Brief, p. 13, and Amicus Brief, p. 11, n.4.

"'Ambiguity suggests that reasonable persons can find different meanings in the same language.'" State v. Huggins, 802 So. 2d 276, 277 (Fla. 2001). A reasonable person is not likely to suggest that he or she would pay consideration for nothing in return. A reasonable person is not likely to suggest that what he or she paid for something is not consideration should consideration be subject to controversy.

The suggestion of ambiguity is nothing more than the want of redundancy: "Congress is 'not required to define each and every word in a piece of legislation in order to express

clearly its will'[;] a statute is not ambiguous merely because it contains a term without a statutory definition." United States v. Sepulveda, 115 F.3d 882, 886, n.9 (11th Cir. 1997).

The definition of consideration obviates a definition of purchaser. Consideration and purchaser are joined necessarily in a commercial transaction. The consideration-purchaser unity is reflected in the 1990 amendment to section 201.02(1), Florida Statutes. C. The Amendment to Section 201.02(1), Florida Statutes, (1989), Authorized Valuing Consideration with Reference to the Property Deeded Rather than the Property Paid Therefor - the Historical Referent that Engendered Unintended Tax Avoidance

Section 201.02(1), Florida Statutes, changed significantly in 1990. The change pertained to the consideration that comprised the tax base. The 1989 statute did not define consideration. The want of a definition of consideration had been outstanding since the inception of the documentary stamp tax in 1931. See Ch. 15787, Laws of Fla. (1931). The statute has always included a purchaser as the person who pays consideration. The want of a definition of consideration supported the decision in *DeVore v. Gay*, 39 So. 2d 796 (Fla. 1949) where the Court observed: "When taxes are to be levied according to a monetary consideration, the law contemplates that such tax should be confined to the actual monetary considerations or to considerations which have a *reasonably determinable pecuniary value." Id.* at 797 (emphasis added).

Similarly, in Palmer-Florida Corporation v. Green, 88 So. 2d 493 (Fla. 1956), the Court observed: "the deed in question did not require documentary stamps because the grantees were not 'purchasers,' and did not pay a '*reasonably determinable*' 'consideration' for the conveyance as contemplated by Sec.

201.02." Id. at 496 (emphasis added).

Under the statutory scheme prevailing in 1989, Florida Administrative Code Rule 12B-4.014(17) stated: "Where unencumbered real property is conveyed to a corporation by a shareholder as a contribution to capital, and is not in exchange for valuable consideration, the conveyance is not taxable. (Citations omitted.)"

The rule reflected the legislation and the outstanding case law - the documentary stamp tax had to be calculated on a reasonably determinable consideration. The reasonable determination was necessarily based on money or a measurable quid pro quo - a manifestation of intent to bargain. When the value of the consideration was not reasonably determinable, the amount of tax could be computed.

The legislation and case law had not kept current with sophisticated tax planning techniques whereby separate but related legal entities were created to hide consideration. Hidden consideration hid the purchaser who, traditionally, was a third party with whom the seller bargained. These techniques not only successfully removed documents from the statute's reach but created the illusion of dual requirements - consideration and purchaser.

Chapter 90-132, section 7, at 451, Laws of Florida, amended section 201.02(1), Florida Statutes, (1989), to address the problem engendered by consideration that was not reasonably determinable, thus: "If the consideration paid or given in exchange for real property ... includes property other than money, it is presumed that the consideration is equal to the fair market value of the real property." The tax base, consideration, is now reasonably determined by reference to the property deeded, not the property paid.

The presumption addresses the value of the consideration - not whether consideration was paid nor whether the party receiving the property purchased that property. Further, valuing consideration by reference to the property deeded rather than the property exchanged therefor contradicts Petitioner's unspoken argument that all taxable deeds emanate from the bargaining process and reflect deliberative intent.

Taxpayers cannot assert nothing was given in exchange for real property when a demonstrable gift was not given and the value of an interest in a separate legal entity increased as a result of a transfer of property - the latter is exchangeable value. One would pay more money for a membership interest in Miami Center as a result of Miami Center's ownership of the real property than one would pay were Miami Center not to own

the real property. Similarly, one would pay more money for an interest in Crescent Funding as a result of Crescent Funding's owning Miami Center than one would pay were Miami Center not to own the property. Thus, in accordance with Florida Administrative Code Rule 12B-4.012(2)(b), "property other than money" includes "everything that has an exchangeable value or which goes to make up wealth or estate."

The statute's amendment prevented facile tax avoidance by imposing a presumption that not only valued consideration but shifted the perspective from which that value would be determined. Accordingly, DOR, pursuant to section 201.11(1), Florida Statutes, (1989), amended¹ Florida Administrative Code Rule 12B-4.013(7), (1991):

Corporation: A conveyance of realty to a corporation in exchange for shares of its capital stock, **or** as a contribution to the capital of a corporation, is subject to tax. There is a presumption that the consideration is equal to the fair market value of the real property interest transferred.

The presumption specified in section 201.02(1), Florida Statutes, (2000), addresses the consideration's value, not its existence in a quid pro quo transaction. Here, the value of the consideration is the deeded property's fair market value

¹See O'Connell, Documentary Stamp Taxes - Impact of Statutory and Florida Administrative Code Amendments, The Florida Bar Journal, vol. LXV, No. 6, 98 (June, 1991).

because, without rebuttal, it is by that amount that Crescent's equity interest in Crescent Funding increased and Crescent Funding's equity interest in Miami Center increased. These increases are attributable to Crescent's deeding the property to Miami Center. And, as Petitioner notes, that deed was a contribution to capital. See Initial Brief pp. 7 and 12. See, also, Amicus Brief, p. 1.

D. The Consideration Exchanged in the Transaction Is Revealed in the Change in the Parties' Respective Property Rights and in the Shift of Risk with Respect to the Real Property Transferred

1. The Mere Change in Property Rights

Petitioner describes the conveyance as a "mere change in ownership [that] did not result in any other party acquiring an interest in the [p]roperty." Initial Brief p. 8.

DOR agrees the transaction at bar was a mere change in ownership. DOR's agreement, however, is premised on the correct use of the adjective "mere" and a rejection of Petitioner's and Amicus's assumption that "mere" means insignificant or trivial.

The adjective "mere," has a number of definitions. "Mere," used accurately, does not trivialize the noun it modifies.² On the contrary - "mere" means pure and absolute -

²See, further, the Oxford English Dictionary, concerning the adjective "mere:" "now often misunderstood as a term of

nothing less than. Merriam-Webster's Collegiate Dictionary, 10th ed. 1998, p. 727.

Petitioner's assertion that there was no substantive change in ownership defies the deed. The deed conveyed the real property "in fee simple forever." ROA p. 54. "A title in fee simple is the highest quality of estate in land known to law." State v. Jacksonville Expressway Authority, 139 So. 2d 135, 138 (Fla. 1962). Fee simple title "implies absolute dominion over the land." 22 Fla. Jur. 2d Estates, Powers and Restraints on Alienation §8 (1998). There could be no greater substantive change in ownership - on February 24, 2000, Crescent owned the real property. On February 25, 2000, Miami Center owned the real

property; a subsequent deed of the property would be executed by Miami Center, not Crescent nor Crescent Funding. On February 25, 2000, Crescent had no interest in the property to convey. The gravity of these facts and legal consequences obtaining were not lost on the Third District. ROA pp. 182 -183.

There was indeed a mere change in the form of ownership -

disparagement, the adj. being apprehended as in sense 5;" to wit: "Having no greater, extent, range, value, power or importance than the designation implies; that is barely or only what it is said to be."

ownership changed absolutely. If the Court is to conclude there was no substantive change in the ownership of the real property the Court must ignore both the law of estate transfer and the separate nature of the legal entities involved.

Consideration need not be money; it exists where there is a benefit to the promisor or detriment to the promisee. Dorman v. Publix-Saenger-Sparks Theatres, Inc., 184 So. 886, 889 (Fla. 1938); Mangus v. Present, 135 So. 2d 417, 419 (Fla. 1961).

The consideration supporting the change in ownership of the real property is reflected in the change in property interests that followed from the transfer. On February 24, 2000, Crescent owned three things: (1) real property; (2) its interest in

Crescent Funding valued at \$X and (3) its interest in Miami Center valued at \$Y.

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